Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

Molecular dynamics simulations of GPCR–cholesterol interaction: An emerging paradigm[†]

Durba Sengupta^{a,*}, Amitabha Chattopadhyay^{b,**}

^a CSIR–National Chemical Laboratory, Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune 411 008, India

^b CSIR-Centre for Cellular and Molecular Biology, Uppal Road, Hyderabad 500 007, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 January 2015 Received in revised form 13 March 2015 Accepted 16 March 2015 Available online 25 March 2015

Keywords: GPCR Coarse-grain simulation Membrane cholesterol CRAC Receptor dimerization Lipid-receptor interaction

ABSTRACT

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are the largest class of molecules involved in signal transduction across cell membranes and represent major targets in the development of novel drug candidates. Membrane cholesterol plays an important role in GPCR structure and function. Molecular dynamics simulations have been successful in exploring the effect of cholesterol on the receptor and a general consensus molecular view is emerging. We review here recent molecular dynamics studies at multiple resolutions highlighting the main features of cholesterol-GPCR interaction. Several cholesterol interaction sites have been identified on the receptor that are reminiscent of nonannular sites. These cholesterol hot-spots are highly dynamic and have a microsecond time scale of exchange with the bulk lipids. A few consensus sites (such as the CRAC site) have been identified that correspond to higher cholesterol interaction. Interestingly, high plasticity is observed in the modes of cholesterol interaction and several sites have been suggested to have high cholesterol occupancy. We therefore believe that these cholesterol hot-spots are indicative of 'high occupancy sites' rather than 'binding sites'. The results suggest that the energy landscape of cholesterol association with GPCRs corresponds to a series of shallow minima interconnected by low barriers. These specific interactions, along with general membrane effects, have been observed to modulate GPCR organization. Membrane cholesterol effects on receptor structure and organization, that in turn influences receptor cross-talk and drug efficacy, represent a new frontier in GPCR research. This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Lipid-protein interactions. Guest Editors: Amitabha Chattopadhyay and Jean-Marie Ruysschaert.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1. Introduction	1776
1.1. GPCR-cholesterol interaction: direct and indirect effects	1776
1.2. Multi-scale simulations	1776
2. Cholesterol interaction sites: annular and nonannular	1776
3. Cholesterol hot-spots are dynamic in nature	1777
4. Consensus sites of cholesterol interaction	1778
5. Plasticity of cholesterol interaction	1779
6. Modulating GPCR structure and association	1779
6.1. Interplay between direct and indirect effects	1779
7. Conclusions and future perspectives	1780
Conflict of interest	1780
Acknowledgments	1780
References	1780

Abbreviations: CCM, cholesterol consensus motif; CRAC, cholesterol recognition amino acid consensus; GPCR, G protein-coupled receptor; POPC, 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine

* This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Lipid-protein interactions. Guest Editors: Amitabha Chattopadhyay and Jean-Marie Ruysschaert.

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 20 2590 2408.

** Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 40 2719 2578; fax: +91 40 2716 0311.

E-mail addresses: d.sengupta@ncl.res.in (D. Sengupta), amit@ccmb.res.in (A. Chattopadhyay).



Review





1. Introduction

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are a superfamily of membraneembedded receptors that mediate diverse cellular responses [1,2]. As a result of their central role in several cellular signaling networks, GPCRs constitute the largest family of clinical drug targets [3]. The importance of GPCRs in health and disease has led to sustained research in understanding various aspects of receptor function, such as ligand binding and G-protein coupling [4,5]. An emerging aspect of GPCR research is the recent advance in high resolution structural characterization of several GPCRs [6–10]. However, the role of membrane lipids in GPCR structure and function still represents a relatively less explored area of research [11].

GPCRs consist of seven transmembrane helices that traverse the membrane and an eighth helix that lies beneath the surface of the membrane [12]. These receptors require cellular membranes or membrane-mimetic environments for their function. Consequently, the receptors have been shown to be sensitive to the membrane lipid composition [11,13,14]. An important lipid in this context is cholesterol which has been demonstrated to modulate function of several GPCRs in a receptor-dependent manner, including the serotonin_{1A} receptor [15–17], the β_2 -adrenergic receptor, ligand binding and signaling were reported to decrease upon cholesterol depletion, but internalization and tracking were unaltered [20]. In contrast, it has been shown that cholesterol is not essential for the function of the neurotensin receptor 1 [21].

Membrane cholesterol has been reported to stabilize the serotonin_{1A} receptor [22] and modeling studies suggest that the receptor is more compact in the presence of cholesterol [23]. In the case of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor, cholesterol has been shown to improve receptor stability and appears to be necessary for crystallization [6,8,24,25]. In addition, the organization of the serotonin_{1A} receptor has been demonstrated to be cholesterol-dependent [26,27]. Interestingly, several GPCR crystal structures have reported close interaction of the receptor with cholesterol [6,8,10,28]. The physiological significance of this close interaction is still emerging in the context of these receptors being crystallized in the lipidic cubic phase [29]. As discussed above, the effect of membrane cholesterol on GPCR organization and function appears to be receptor-dependent, although the data set for this analysis is still modest. A careful analysis therefore would be prudent to address the effect of membrane cholesterol on various GPCRs.

1.1. GPCR-cholesterol interaction: direct and indirect effects

The effects of cholesterol on GPCR function and organization have been suggested to arise due to either direct or indirect effects [30]. Direct effects are those that arise from bound lipid molecules, and affect receptor structure and dynamics by directly interacting with it [31-33]. Indirect effects are caused due to the changes in physical properties of the membrane that indirectly modulate receptor structure and dynamics [13,34,35]. Lipid molecules involved in a direct effect could be distinguished as annular and nonannular lipids [31]. Annular lipids refer to a shell or annulus of lipid molecules surrounding the protein periphery that interact with the receptor surface, and are exchangeable with bulk lipids (a similar shell of lipids has been postulated to be responsible for targeting proteins to specific membrane domains [36]). On the other hand, nonannular lipids are postulated to be not accessible to annular lipids, i.e., they cannot be exchanged with annular lipids. The location of nonannular sites correspond to inter or intramolecular (interhelical) protein surfaces. Lipids bound to nonannular sites are considered to possess higher specificity relative to annular lipids. It has been suggested that cholesterol binding sites in GPCRs could be nonannular [37].

As stated above, indirect effects could arise from changes in the physical properties of the membrane due to the presence or absence of cholesterol. For example, cholesterol modulates membrane bilayer thickness [38] and order [39], and could indirectly affect receptor

function by influencing the dimension and rigidity of the membrane [35]. Modulation of GPCR structure and function by hydrophobic mismatch has been previously reported [40–42]. In addition, it has been shown that capsaicin, which increases membrane elasticity [43], modulates ligand binding activity of the hippocampal serotonin_{1A} receptor [44]. Recent crystal structures of GPCRs that have resolved closely spaced cholesterol molecules [6,8,10,28] appear to support a direct effect, which could be related to the crystallization conditions [29]. The specificity of GPCR-cholesterol interaction has been further validated from studies in which close structural analogs of cholesterol were not able to maintain receptor activity [45–47].

1.2. Multi-scale simulations

Molecular dynamics simulations have emerged as an important approach to analyze the molecular details of GPCR structure and function. Simulations help us address questions that are difficult to access with state-of-the-art experimental approaches due to technical complexities and challenges. Atomistic molecular dynamics simulations have been extensively used to probe different aspects of GPCR dynamics [48]. With increasing computational power, unbiased atomistic simulations have been used to study the activation mechanism of GPCRs at the microsecond time scale [49–51]. Using these approaches, a substantial conformational heterogeneity has been reported to be essential for the function of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor [52]. In parallel, coarse-grain simulations are being increasingly used to explore microsecond time scale dynamics and organization [53]. In particular, coarse-grain simulations are proving to be useful to analyze the energetics of GPCR association [54]. However, these studies did not explore the effect of multicomponent bilayers and different bilayer constituents, especially cholesterol.

To distinguish between direct and indirect cholesterol interactions, a few molecular dynamics simulations have been performed with GPCRs embedded in cholesterol-rich bilayers. The nanosecond time scale regime sampled in early atomistic molecular dynamics simulations was not able to probe lateral organization in the membrane [55-57]. Although cholesterol was suggested to be predominantly excluded from the receptor surface [55,56], a few studies were able to identify sites where strong contacts were observed during the simulation [57]. With increased computational resources and improved multi-scale simulations, longer time regimes have been simulated. Recent microsecond time scale atomistic and coarse-grain simulations have been able to sample the lateral diffusion of cholesterol. An example of a representative GPCR, the serotonin_{1A} receptor [58], embedded in a multi-component bilayer containing cholesterol is shown in Fig. 1. The serotonin_{1A} receptor is shown in the figure with the coarse-grain force-field, MARTINI [59,60], that has been shown to reproduce lipid-protein interactions well [61-63]. In these simulations, the cholesterol molecules undergo free rotation and translation, and are able to interact with the receptor in an unbiased manner. The simulations allow identification of the cholesterol interaction sites without an external bias, but sampling issues could be a concern, and adequate care is needed to ensure sampling of sufficient number of binding/unbinding events. In this review, we highlight the current molecular view of GPCR-cholesterol interaction utilizing molecular dynamics simulation and how it affects GPCR structure and dynamics by direct and indirect effects.

2. Cholesterol interaction sites: annular and nonannular

One of the longest time scale simulations was performed with the serotonin_{1A} receptor in 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3phosphocholine (POPC) membrane bilayers with varying concentrations of cholesterol [64]. Multiple simulations adding up to submillisecond time scale regimes were performed with the receptor in the membrane environment represented by the MARTINI coarse-grain force-field. During the course of the simulations, cholesterol molecules



Fig. 1. A representative snapshot of the serotonin_{1A} receptor in a membrane bilayer of POPC and 30% cholesterol. The backbone of the receptor is shown in red, cholesterol molecules are shown in green, and the hydroxyl group in pink. POPC molecules are shown in gray (with its phosphate group in white) and the surrounding water molecules in blue. The figure represents one of the systems studied in ref. [64]. Adapted with permission from Ref. [64] (copyright 2014 American Chemical Society).

diffused freely and multiple cholesterol binding/unbinding events were sampled. Fig. 2 depicts the sampling of a few randomly chosen cholesterol molecules. The figure shows that one of the cholesterol molecules (shown in green) diffuses freely throughout the simulation box, approaching the receptor several times but not interacting with it for long periods of time. In contrast, the cholesterol molecule represented in black interacts with the receptor for a substantial period of time. The representative green cholesterol molecule, which undergoes fast exchange with bulk lipids, could be indicative of annular lipids when interacting with the receptor surface. The black cholesterol molecule, on the other hand, could be representative of a nonannular lipid. From such a cholesterol population distribution, we can identify regions of high cholesterol density, often used as an indicator of cholesterol interaction sites. Sites of high cholesterol density are analogous to sites with high total occupancy time, i.e., the time any cholesterol molecule was bound at a site. The total occupancy time accounts for non-specific cholesterol binding, and multiple binding/unbinding events with low residency times, especially at high cholesterol concentrations. For this reason, a second measure (the maximum occupancy time) was proposed. The maximum occupancy time is defined as the time a given cholesterol molecule was bound to a particular site. Only specific binding is accounted for the maximum occupancy time, especially at high cholesterol concentrations. This measure could be viewed as a distinguishing feature between the annular (high rate of exchange with bulk lipids) and nonannular sites (low rate of exchange with the bulk). With substantial sampling, both measures of high density and maximum occupancy will identify the same sites, but could differ if sampling is not adequate. It was shown in a related study [65] that indeed the site with the highest density corresponds to the site of high maximum occupancy.



Fig. 2. Diffusion of cholesterol molecules around the serotonin_{1A} receptor in a membrane bilayer of POPC and 30% cholesterol. The x and y coordinates of four representative cholesterol molecules during the course of the simulation are shown in different colors. The trajectories were fitted using the receptor as the reference. The figure shows that several cholesterol molecules (red, green and blue) sample a large part of the simulation box (*i.e.*, sample the bulk membrane), while a few (shown in black) bound to specific sites show constrained dynamics.

By analyzing the maximum occupancy of cholesterol molecules at different sites on the serotonin_{1A} receptor, several cholesterol 'hotspots' could be identified [64]. These hot-spots correspond to the sites at which the maximum occupancy was, on an average, higher than at the remaining regions of the receptor. The cholesterol occupancy sites were observed to be present on both the extracellular and the intracellular side of the receptor. In another study, sub-microsecond time scale simulation of the A_{2A} adenosine receptor revealed a large number of sites with increased cholesterol interaction [66]. Although the simulations sampled shorter time scales, the atomistic force-field used in the study allowed a more detailed view of the cholesterol interaction. In case of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor, several cholesterol interaction sites were identified by two independent studies using atomistic and coarse-grain approaches [65,67]. Interestingly, these sites exhibited close agreement. It is therefore becoming clear that state-of-the-art molecular dynamics simulations probing the microsecond time scale regime are able to identify cholesterol hot-spots on GPCRs. Taken together, these studies indicate the presence of a large number of sites of high cholesterol occupancy in GPCRs, indicative of nonannular sites.

3. Cholesterol hot-spots are dynamic in nature

The cholesterol hot-spots identified in GPCRs such as the serotonin₁A receptor [64], the A_{2A} adenosine receptor [66] and the β_2 -adrenergic receptor [65,67] appear to be highly dynamic. Most cholesterol molecules exchange with bulk lipids within nanoseconds. Cholesterol molecules were observed to be associated with the receptor in microsecond time scale at the cholesterol hot-spots, *i.e.*, the average lifetimes of the interacting cholesterol molecules were of the order of microseconds [64]. In a few shorter atomistic simulations, some cholesterol molecules were observed to be stably bound throughout the simulation period [67]. In general, the time scales of binding/unbinding at the hot-spots are in the microsecond time scale at most other sites. Fig. 3 shows a



Fig. 3. Dynamics and diversity of cholesterol occupancy sites in GPCRs. A few sites show fast exchange with bulk membrane lipids and low occupancy at the receptor surface. Other sites characteristically exhibit slow exchange with bulk lipids and high occupancy at the GPCR surface. Fast nanosecond time scale dynamics is observed in several sites. Site hopping in microsecond time scale between proximal sites is also observed.

schematic representation of the fast and slow exchange sites in the serotonin_{1A} receptor.

Even when 'bound' to the receptor, these sites are associated with considerable cholesterol dynamics. The cholesterol molecules are quite mobile when associated with the receptor and interact with several residues in the vicinity. As a result, the pattern of the contact made at each interaction site shows high variability [66]. For example, the cholesterol hydroxyl group could interact with several nearby polar and charged groups [64]. A few of the contacts could also be broken for short time periods [68]. Interestingly, site hopping has also been observed between sites that are close together in space [65]. The flexibility at the interaction site is also observed between different binding events, and different association modes of the cholesterol molecule may be sampled. Although limited sampling of the microsecond time scale simulations could lead to differences between the occupancy at different sites, similarities are observed in the nature of these sites. As a result, we believe that these cholesterol hot-spots are indicative of 'high occupancy sites' rather than 'binding sites'.

4. Consensus sites of cholesterol interaction

The location of the cholesterol occupancy sites appears to be receptor-dependent, although a few consensus sites are beginning to emerge. Some of these sites are in deep protein pockets, and located at the interface of transmembrane helices. One of the first putative cholesterol interaction sites was identified from crystallographic studies of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor [8] and termed as the cholesterol consensus motif (CCM). This site is located at the groove of the transmembrane helices II and IV. The site is observed to correspond to high cholesterol occupancy in coarse-grain simulations [65], but suggested to be not as frequently occupied in the atomistic simulations [67] of the β_2 adrenergic receptor. Cang et al. [67] showed using atomistic simulations that only a single cholesterol molecule was associated with the receptor at that site and the second molecule drifted away and was replaced by a phospholipid molecule. Further, high dynamics was observed in the coarse-grain simulations at the CCM site and a microsecond time scale interconversion was observed between this site and other nearby cholesterol high-occupancy sites [65]. The CCM site was identified from crystal structures and could be specific to the crystallization conditions. Interestingly, since this binding mode correlates well to that observed in the simulation, it could indicate that cholesterol occupancy at this site is independent of the lipid packing arrangement, although more dynamic than suggested from crystallographic studies. In total, four sites were identified at the extracellular side of the receptor and five toward the intracellular side [65,67]. A good agreement was found between most high density sites identified in the coarse-grain [65] and atomistic [67] simulations. Interestingly, high cholesterol density was observed at the CCM site in atomistic simulations of the β_1 - adrenergic receptor [69]. However, differences were observed in the cholesterol density at the other cholesterol 'hot-spots'.

The serotonin_{1A} receptor displayed several cholesterol interaction sites on the receptor surface [64]. Low cholesterol interaction was observed at the corresponding CCM site at the cleft of transmembrane helices II and IV. Another site suggested to be a putative cholesterol interaction site is the cholesterol recognition amino acid consensus (CRAC) site that has been identified in several GPCR sequences [70]. The cholesterol occupancy was on an average high at a CRAC site on transmembrane helix V of the serotonin_{1A} receptor in coarse-grain simulations [64]. However, cholesterol occupancy was high at several non-CRAC sites including transmembrane helices I, II, VI and VII. Similar to the adrenergic receptor family, the serotonin receptor family displays differences in the cholesterol hot-spots. For example, high cholesterol density was reported in the serotonin_{2A} receptor at the intracellular end of transmembrane helices I, II and IV, the extracellular side of transmembrane helices II and III, and at both termini of transmembrane helices VI and VII [71].

Rhodopsin has been studied in several computational studies and early molecular dynamics studies suggested that cholesterol was mainly excluded from the receptor surface [55,56]. More recent data suggest the presence of high cholesterol density sites [57,72]. Khelashvili et al. [57] and Horn et al. [72] identified different sites using atomistic and coarse-grain approaches, but with an agreement in the cholesterol high density site at transmembrane helix VII. The regions of high cholesterol density identified in rhodopsin using coarse-grain approaches appear to closely match with those in opsin [72]. One of these sites, located at the cytoplasmic face of transmembrane helices III, IV and V, has also been identified in the A_{2A} adenosine receptor [66]. Atomistic simulations were able to identify two additional sites at the extracellular side of the receptor [66]. One of these sites was substantiated by high cholesterol density in a recent crystal structure of the A_{2A} adenosine receptor [10]. Interestingly, none of the above studies were able to discern high cholesterol density at the CCM site.

5. Plasticity of cholesterol interaction

Several cholesterol interaction sites have been identified in GPCRs by different computational studies. A comparison of these sites shows variability between different sets and approaches, although some common features emerge. The interaction of cholesterol with the cholesterol occupancy sites identified appears to be stochastic. Although on an average the same sites are sampled, the deviation between the actual number of events sampled in the same time scales [66] and the time of occupancy between different simulation sets is high [64]. Additionally, as discussed earlier, a few contacts could also be broken for short time periods, resulting in reduced occupancy at those sites [68]. Even the 'specific interaction' of GPCRs with membrane cholesterol shows high flexibility in the probability of association. Although protein clefts, charged or aromatic amino acids are involved in the interaction of cholesterol with GPCRs, none of these are indispensable, and different combinations of these factors could provide diversity in cholesterol occupancy sites [69]. It appears therefore that the interaction of cholesterol with GPCRs is highly plastic.

The plasticity of GPCR-cholesterol interaction arises due to multiple factors. The first factor is the dynamics at the sites and between sites, such that the interaction of the cholesterol molecules with individual residues varies. A second factor is that the high occupancy sites could have equal or comparable probability of cholesterol interaction, such that there is a competition between these sites. The probability of occupancy at these sites therefore could vary. To be able to discern these small differences in the probabilities, a complete sampling of all possible sites at the millisecond to second time scale is required. Yet another factor contributing to plasticity of cholesterol interaction sites is that some of these could represent sites with competition with other lipid components. A competition with phospholipids has been suggested for the CCM site from atomistic simulations [67]. In addition, high occupancy for both phospholipids and cholesterol at several sites has been reported [64]. Interestingly, the presence or absence of other bilayer components, such as sphingolipids, could additionally fine-tune the plasticity of cholesterol occupancy. The modulation of GPCR function by sphingolipids has been demonstrated for the serotonin_{1A} receptor [73,74]. The plasticity of the cholesterol hot-spots could be dependent on ligand binding as well, and interestingly the high occupancy sites were suggested to be ligand-dependent in the case of the adenosine_{2A} receptor [68] but not for the serotonin_{1A} receptor [64].

The emerging model regarding the energy landscape of cholesterol association with GPCRs is that it corresponds to a series of shallow minima interconnected by low barriers. A schematic view of the relative energy landscape of the cholesterol occupancy sites is shown in Fig. 4. The cholesterol occupancy sites could be represented by individual residues or by a sub-space at the receptor surface (such as the CCM site). Although the occupancy sites are shown as interconnected, they are usually accessed via an exchange with the annular lipids and less often by direct site hopping. The free energy of these sites, calculated from the relative populations, is of the order of kT at room temperature [66]. The interaction energy between cholesterol and the receptor is relatively low, although high cholesterol dynamics reduces the entropic penalty of binding, thereby increasing the free energy of association at these sites. Both the minima and the barriers could be modulated by other lipid components. Ligand binding could further tune the energetics of cholesterol interaction. Taken together, it is becoming clear that cholesterol occupancy sites in GPCRs are weak, dynamic yet essential.



Fig. 4. A schematic representation of the energy landscape illustrating cholesterol interaction sites in GPCRs. The landscape corresponds to a series of shallow minima interconnected by low energy barriers. The abscissa can be thought to correspond to individual occupancy sites represented by each residue or by a sub-space at the receptor surface (such as the CCM site). Although shown as interconnected, the sites are most likely to be accessed via an exchange with the annular lipids and less often by direct site hopping. Note that the energy barriers and the minima could be modulated by other membrane components such as sphingolipids.

6. Modulating GPCR structure and association

Although cholesterol interaction sites have been reported in GPCRs, its effect on the structure and dynamics of GPCRs is still not clear. One of the few studies focusing on protein structural integrity [57] reported structural differences in the kink regions in transmembrane helices I, II and VII. However, later work by Lyman and coworkers [68] analyzed the effect of cholesterol on the A_{2A} adenosine receptor and reported a force-field dependent dynamics of the kink regions. Another study [71] correlated the functionally relevant conformational flexibility of the serotonin_{2A} receptor with the interaction of cholesterol, but it was not clear whether this conformational flexibility was directly due to the interaction of cholesterol. The differences in receptor structure arising from indirect effects, such as membrane order, are less tractable and have not been studied in a systematic manner. It appears that the effect of cholesterol on receptor structure and dynamics is subtle and would require more detailed analysis.

6.1. Interplay between direct and indirect effects

Long time scale simulations, especially using coarse-grain forcefields, have allowed us to study GPCR association at a molecular level. A pioneering study, focusing on rhodopsin organization in bilayers of varying thickness, suggested that receptor association is influenced by bilayer perturbations around the receptor [53]. The energy penalty from mismatch between the hydrophobic length of the transmembrane helices and the bilayer appears to be a driving factor for receptor oligomerization. A similar trend was reported for β_1 - and β_2 -adrenergic receptors, in which the mismatch was observed to be higher in the presence of cholesterol [75]. The authors suggested that the increased mismatch is related to the increased oligomerization in the presence of cholesterol [75]. In both studies, a correlation was reported between the helices with mismatch and their occurrence at oligomer interfaces [53,75]. To address the direct and indirect effects in a more tractable system, the dimerization of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor was studied at different cholesterol concentrations [65,76]. Modulation of the dimer interface was observed by increasing concentrations of cholesterol (see Fig. 5). The presence of transmembrane helix IV at the dimer interface was observed to be inversely correlated with the occupancy of cholesterol at this site [65]. This was one of the first studies that correlated a



Fig. 5. Modulation of the dimer interface of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor by membrane cholesterol content. Previous work using coarse-grain molecular dynamics simulations showed that the dimerization of the receptor is modulated by membrane cholesterol content [65]. The receptor dimer interface changes from predominantly transmembrane helices IV and V (shown in blue) at low membrane cholesterol to an interface consisting of transmembrane helices I and II (purple) at high membrane cholesterol. Cholesterol is shown at the center in blue with the polar hydroxyl group in red. Such conformational plasticity at the dimer interface with varying cholesterol content gives rise to interesting possibilities in future drug development (see Ref. [65] for more details). Data taken from Ref. [65].

direct interaction of cholesterol with GPCR association. Similar to previous reports [53,75], the helices with a mismatch were observed at the dimer interface. However, the population analysis did not completely match the extent of the mismatch, *i.e.*, the transmembrane helices with the maximum mismatch were not necessarily those that were maximally observed at the dimer interface [76]. These studies appear to suggest that the driving forces for GPCR association are much more complex than just hydrophobic mismatch or cholesterol occupancy. Both direct and indirect membrane effects contribute toward the dimerization of the receptor. An examination of the energetics of several dimer interfaces revealed similar energetics and several interfaces were calculated to be favorable [54]. The comparable energetics of the dimer interfaces, coupled with the plasticity of the cholesterol occupancy sites, could modulate dimer interfaces in a cholesterol-dependent manner.

7. Conclusions and future perspectives

Multi-scale simulations have shown that membrane cholesterol preferentially interacts with certain sites on GPCRs. Nonetheless, the association of cholesterol to membrane proteins in general, and GPCRs in particular, is currently being extensively explored. A general picture of cholesterol interaction sites is emerging, although no consensus model has been reached. The cholesterol interaction sites represent hot-spots that are reminiscent of high occupancy sites, instead of binding sites. Several such high occupancy sites are present at the surface of GPCRs. Cholesterol molecules at these hot-spots exhibit microsecond time scale lifetimes and exhibit fast exchange with bulk lipids. At the high occupancy sites, cholesterol molecules exhibit fast dynamics and stochasticity is observed in the characteristic interaction patterns. The plasticity in the cholesterol occupancy sites appears to be related to the low but comparable energetics of the different sites, and competition with other bilayer components. Although cholesterol-rich bilayers are observed to directly affect receptor organization, the effects on the structure and dynamics of the receptor are less clear. The driving force of receptor organization is complex and both hydrophobic mismatch and cholesterol sites contribute to GPCR oligomerization. Membrane cholesterol effects on receptor structure and organization, that could modulate drug efficacy, represent a new frontier in GPCR research.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Department of Science and Technology and Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, Govt. of India. D.S. and A.C. gratefully acknowledge the support of the Ramalingaswami Fellowship from the Department of Biotechnology, and J.C. Bose Fellowship from the Department of Science and Technology, Govt. of India, respectively. A.C. is an Adjunct Professor of Jawaharlal Nehru University (New Delhi), Indian Institute of Science Education and Research (Mohali), Indian Institute of Technology (Kanpur) and Honorary Professor of the Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research (Bangalore). We thank Md. Jafurulla for help during preparation of the manuscript, and Xavier Prasanna for help in making figures. We thank members of our research groups for critically reading the manuscript.

References

- K.L. Pierce, R.T. Premont, R.J. Lefkowitz, Seven-transmembrane receptors, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 3 (2002) 639–650.
- [2] D.M. Rosenbaum, S.G.F. Rasmussen, B.K. Kobilka, The structure and function of G-protein-coupled receptors, Nature 459 (2009) 356–363.
- [3] R. Heilker, M. Wolff, C.S. Tautermann, M. Bieler, G-protein-coupled receptorfocused drug discovery using a target class platform approach, Drug Discov. Today 14 (2009) 231–240.
- [4] M.C. Lagerström, H.B. Schiöth, Structural diversity of G protein-coupled receptors and significance for drug discovery, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 7 (2008) 339–357.
- [5] V. Katritch, V. Cherezov, R.C. Stevens, Diversity and modularity of G protein-coupled receptor structures, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 33 (2012) 17–27.
- [6] V. Cherezov, D.M. Rosenbaum, M.A. Hanson, S.G.F. Rasmussen, F.S. Thian, T.S. Kobilka, H.-J. Choi, P. Kuhn, W.I. Weis, B.K. Kobilka, R.C. Stevens, High-resolution crystal structure of an engineered human β₂-adrenergic G protein-coupled receptor, Science 318 (2007) 1258–1265.

- [7] D.M. Rosenbaum, V. Cherezov, M.A. Hanson, S.G.F. Rasmussen, F.S. Thian, T.S. Kobilka, H.-J. Choi, X.-J. Yao, W.I. Weis, R.C. Stevens, B.K. Kobilka, GPCR engineering yields high-resolution structural insights into β₂-adrenergic receptor function, Science 318 (2007) 1266–1273.
- [8] M.A. Hanson, V. Cherezov, C.B. Roth, M.T. Griffith, V.-P. Jaakola, E.Y.T. Chien, J. Velasquez, P. Kuhn, R.C. Stevens, A specific cholesterol binding site is established by the 2.8 Å structure of the human β₂-adrenergic receptor, Structure 16 (2008) 897–905.
- [9] J. Huang, S. Chen, J.J. Zhang, X.-Y. Huang, Crystal structure of oligomeric β₁-adrenergic G protein-coupled receptors in ligand-free basal state, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 20 (2013) 419–425.
- [10] W. Liu, E. Chun, A.A. Thompson, P. Chubukov, F. Xu, V. Katritch, G.W. Han, C.B. Roth, L.H. Heitman, A.P. IJzerman, V. Cherezov, R.C. Stevens, Structural basis for allosteric regulation of GPCRs by sodium ions, Science 337 (2012) 232–236.
- [11] A. Chattopadhyay, GPCRs: lipid-dependent membrane receptors that act as drug targets, Adv. Biol. 2014 (2014) 143023.
- [12] A.J. Venkatakrishnan, X. Deupi, G. Lebon, C.G. Tate, G.F. Schertler, M.M. Babu, Molecular signatures of G-protein-coupled receptors, Nature 494 (2013) 185–194.
- [13] O. Soubias, K. Gawrisch, The role of the lipid matrix for structure and function of the GPCR rhodopsin, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1818 (2012) 234–240.
- [14] J. Oates, A. Watts, Uncovering the intimate relationship between lipids, cholesterol and GPCR activation, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 21 (2011) 802–807.
- [15] T.J. Pucadyil, A. Chattopadhyay, Role of cholesterol in the function and organization of G-protein coupled receptors, Prog. Lipid Res. 45 (2006) 295–333.
- [16] Y.D. Paila, A. Chattopadhyay, Membrane cholesterol in the function and organization of G-protein coupled receptors, Subcell. Biochem. 51 (2010) 439–466.
- [17] M. Jafurulla, A. Chattopadhyay, Membrane lipids in the function of serotonin and adrenergic receptors, Curr. Med. Chem. 20 (2013) 47–55.
- [18] Y.D. Paila, E. Jindal, S.K. Goswami, A. Chattopadhyay, Cholesterol depletion enhances adrenergic signaling in cardiac myocytes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1808 (2011) 461–465.
- [19] B. Jastrzebska, A. Debinski, S. Filipek, K. Palczewski, Role of membrane integrity on G protein-coupled receptors: rhodopsin stability and function, Prog. Lipid Res. 50 (2011) 267–277.
- [20] K.G. Harikumar, V. Puri, R.D. Singh, K. Hanada, R.E. Pagano, L.J. Miller, Differential effects of modification of membrane cholesterol and sphingolipids on the conformation, function, and trafficking of the G protein-coupled cholecystokinin receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 2176–2185.
- [21] J. Oates, B. Faust, H. Attrill, P. Harding, M. Orwick, A. Watts, The role of cholesterol on the activity and stability of neurotensin receptor 1, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1818 (2012) 2228–2233.
- [22] R. Saxena, A. Chattopadhyay, Membrane cholesterol stabilizes the human serotonin_{1A} receptor, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1818 (2012) 2936–2942.
- [23] Y.D. Paila, S. Tiwari, D. Sengupta, A. Chattopadhyay, Molecular modeling of the human serotonin_{1A} receptor: role of membrane cholesterol in ligand binding of the receptor, Mol. Biosyst. 7 (2011) 224–234.
- [24] Z. Yao, B. Kobilka, Using synthetic lipids to stabilize purified β_2 adrenoceptor in detergent micelles, Anal. Biochem. 343 (2005) 344–346.
- [25] M. Zocher, C. Zhang, S.G.F. Rasmussen, B.K. Kobilka, D.J. Müller, Cholesterol increases kinetic, energetic, and mechanical stability of the human β₂-adrenergic receptor, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109 (2012) E3463–E3472.
- [26] Y.D. Paila, M. Kombrabail, G. Krishnamoorthy, A. Chattopadhyay, Oligomerization of the serotonin_{1A} receptor in live cells: a time-resolved fluorescence anisotropy approach, J. Phys. Chem. B 115 (2011) 11439–11447.
- [27] S. Ganguly, A.H.A. Clayton, A. Chattopadhyay, Organization of higher-order oligomers of the serotonin_{1A} receptor explored utilizing homo-FRET in live cells, Biophys. J. 100 (2011) 361–368.
- [28] H. Wu, C. Wang, K.J. Gregory, G.W. Han, H.P. Cho, Y. Xia, C.M. Niswender, V. Katritch, J. Meiler, V. Cherezov, P.J. Conn, R.C. Stevens, Structure of a class C GPCR metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 bound to an allosteric modulator, Science 344 (2014) 58–64.
- [29] G. Khelashvili, P.B.C. Albornoz, N. Johner, S. Mondal, M. Caffrey, H. Weinstein, Why GPCRs behave differently in cubic and lamellar lipidic mesophases, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134 (2012) 15858–15868.
- [30] Y.D. Paila, A. Chattopadhyay, The function of G-protein coupled receptors and membrane cholesterol: specific or general interaction? Glycoconj. J. 26 (2009) 711–720.
- [31] A.G. Lee, Biological membranes: the importance of molecular detail, Trends Biochem. Sci. 36 (2011) 493–500.
- [32] P.L. Yeagle, Non-covalent binding of membrane lipids to membrane proteins, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1838 (2014) 1548–1559.
- [33] D.L. Gater, O. Saurel, I. Iordanov, W. Liu, V. Cherezov, A. Milon, Two classes of cholesterol binding sites for the β_2AR revealed by thermostability and NMR, Biophys. J. 107 (2014) 2305–2312.
- [34] R. Phillips, T. Ursell, P. Wiggins, P. Sens, Emerging roles for lipids in shaping membrane-protein function, Nature 459 (2009) 379–385.
- [35] O. Soubias, W.E. Teague, K.G. Hines, K. Gawrisch, The role of membrane curvature elastic stress for function of rhodopsin-like G protein-coupled receptors, Biochimie 107 (2014) 28–32.
- [36] R.G.W. Anderson, K. Jacobson, A role for lipid shells in targeting proteins to caveolae, rafts, and other lipid domains, Science 296 (2002) 1821–1825.
- [37] Y.D. Paila, S. Tiwari, A. Chattopadhyay, Are specific nonannular cholesterol binding sites present in G-protein coupled receptors? Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1788 (2009) 295–302.
- [38] F.A. Nezil, M. Bloom, Combined influence of cholesterol and synthetic amphiphilic peptides upon bilayer thickness in model membranes, Biophys. J. 61 (1992) 1176–1183.

- [39] A. Arora, H. Raghuraman, A. Chattopadhyay, Influence of cholesterol and ergosterol on membrane dynamics: a fluorescence approach, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 318 (2004) 920–926.
- [40] I.D. Alves, Z. Salamon, V.J. Hruby, G. Tollin, Ligand modulation of lateral segregation of a G-protein-coupled receptor into lipid microdomains in sphingomyelin/ phosphatidylcholine solid-supported bilavers. Biochemistry 44 (2005) 9168–9178.
- [41] A.V. Botelho, T. Huber, T.P. Sakmar, M.F. Brown, Curvature and hydrophobic forces drive oligomerization and modulate activity of rhodopsin in membranes, Biophys. J. 91 (2006) 4464–4477.
- [42] O. Soubias, S.-L. Niu, D.C. Mitchell, K. Gawrisch, Lipid-rhodopsin hydrophobic mismatch alters rhodopsin helical content, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 12465–12471.
- [43] J.A. Lundbæk, P. Birn, S.E. Tape, G.E.S. Toombes, R. Søgaard, R.E. Koeppe II, S.M. Gruner, A.J. Hansen, O.S. Andersen, Capsaicin regulates voltage-dependent sodium channels by altering lipid bilayer elasticity, Mol. Pharmacol. 68 (2005) 680–689.
- [44] R. Prasad, P. Singh, A. Chattopadhyay, Effect of capsaicin on ligand binding activity of the hippocampal serotonin_{1A} receptor, Glycoconj. J. 26 (2009) 733–738.
- [45] G. Gimpl, K. Burger, F. Fahrenholz, Cholesterol as modulator of receptor function, Biochemistry 36 (1997) 10959–10974.
- [46] Y.D. Paila, M.R.V.S. Murty, M. Vairamani, A. Chattopadhyay, Signaling by the human serotonin_{1A} receptor is impaired in cellular model of Smith–Lemli–Opitz Syndrome, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1778 (2008) 1508–1516.
- [47] M. Jafurulla, B.D. Rao, S. Sreedevi, J.-M. Ruysschaert, D.F. Covey, A. Chattopadhyay, Stereospecific requirement of cholesterol in the function of the serotonin_{1A} receptor, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1838 (2014) 158–163.
- [48] A. Grossfield, Recent progress in the study of G protein-coupled receptors with molecular dynamics computer simulations, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1808 (2011) 1868–1878.
- [49] R.O. Dror, D.H. Arlow, D.W. Borhani, M.Ø. Jensen, S. Piana, D.E. Shaw, Identification of two distinct inactive conformations of the β₂-adrenergic receptor reconciles structural and biochemical observations, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 4689–4694.
- [50] R.O. Dror, A.C. Pan, D.H. Arlow, D.W. Borhani, P. Maragakis, Y. Shan, H. Xu, D.E. Shaw, Pathway and mechanism of drug binding to G-protein-coupled receptors, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (2011) 13118–13123.
- [51] K.J. Kohlhoff, D. Shukla, M. Lawrenz, G.R. Bowman, D.E. Konerding, D. Belov, R.B. Altman, V.S. Pande, Cloud-based simulations on Google Exacycle reveal ligand modulation of GPCR activation pathways, Nat. Chem. 6 (2014) 15–21.
- [52] R. Nygaard, Y. Zou, R.O. Dror, T.J. Mildorf, D.H. Arlow, A. Manglik, A.C. Pan, C.W. Liu, J.J. Fung, M.P. Bokoch, F.S. Thian, T.S. Kobilka, D.E. Shaw, L. Mueller, R.S. Prosser, B.K. Kobilka, The dynamic process of β₂-adrenergic receptor activation, Cell 152 (2013) 532–542.
- [53] X. Periole, T. Huber, S.-J. Marrink, T.P. Sakmar, G protein-coupled receptors selfassemble in dynamics simulations of model bilayers, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129 (2007) 10126–10132.
- [54] X. Periole, A.M. Knepp, T.P. Sakmar, S.J. Marrink, T. Huber, Structural determinants of the supramolecular organization of G protein-coupled receptors in bilayers, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134 (2012) 10959–10965.
- [55] M.C. Pitman, A. Grossfield, F. Suits, S.E. Feller, Role of cholesterol and polyunsaturated chains in lipid-protein interactions: molecular dynamics simulation of rhodopsin in a realistic membrane environment, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 4576–4577.
- [56] A. Grossfield, S.E. Feller, M.C. Pitman, A role for direct interactions in the modulation of rhodopsin by ω-3 polyunsaturated lipids, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 4888–4893.
- [57] G. Khelashvili, A. Grossfield, S.E. Feller, M.C. Pitman, H. Weinstein, Structural and dynamic effects of cholesterol at preferred sites of interaction with rhodopsin identified from microsecond length molecular dynamics simulations, Proteins 76 (2009) 403–417.
- [58] T.J. Pucadyil, S. Kalipatnapu, A. Chattopadhyay, The serotonin_{1A} receptor: a representative member of the serotonin receptor family, Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 25 (2005) 553–580.
- [59] S.J. Marrink, H.J. Risselada, S. Yefimov, D.P. Tieleman, A.H. de Vries, The MARTINI force field: coarse grained model for biomolecular simulations, J. Phys. Chem. B 111 (2007) 7812–7824.
- [60] L. Monticelli, S.K. Kandasamy, X. Periole, R.G. Larson, D.P. Tieleman, S.-J. Marrink, The MARTINI coarse-grained force field: extension to proteins, J. Chem. Theory Comput. 4 (2008) 819–834.
- [61] X. Prasanna, P.J. Praveen, D. Sengupta, Sequence dependent lipid-mediated effects modulate the dimerization of ErbB2 and its associative mutants, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 15 (2013) 19031–19041.
- [62] D. Sengupta, Cholesterol modulates the structure, binding modes, and energetics of caveolin-membrane interactions, J. Phys. Chem. B 116 (2012) 14556–14564.
- [63] D. Sengupta, A. Rampioni, S.-J. Marrink, Simulations of the c-subunit of ATPsynthase reveal helix rearrangements, Mol. Membr. Biol. 26 (2009) 422–434.
- [64] D. Sengupta, A. Chattopadhyay, Identification of cholesterol binding sites in the serotonin_{1A} receptor, J. Phys. Chem. B 116 (2012) 12991–12996.
- [65] X. Prasanna, A. Chattopadhyay, D. Sengupta, Cholesterol modulates the dimer interface of the β_2 -adrenergic receptor via cholesterol occupancy sites, Biophys. J. 106 (2014) 1290–1300.
- [66] J.Y. Lee, E. Lyman, Predictions for cholesterol interaction sites on the A_{2A} adenosine receptor, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134 (2012) 16512–16515.
- [67] X. Cang, Y. Du, Y. Mao, Y. Wang, H. Yang, H. Jiang, Mapping the functional binding sites of cholesterol in β_2 -adrenergic receptor by long-time molecular dynamics simulations, J. Phys. Chem. B 117 (2013) 1085–1094.
- [68] J.Y. Lee, R. Patel, E. Lyman, Ligand-dependent cholesterol interactions with the human A_{2A} adenosine receptor, Chem. Phys. Lipids 169 (2013) 39–45.
- [69] X. Cang, L. Yang, J. Yang, C. Luo, M. Zheng, K. Yu, H. Yang, H. Jiang, Cholesterol-β₁AR interaction versus cholesterol-β₂AR interaction, Proteins 82 (2014) 760–770.

- [70] M. Jafurulla, S. Tiwari, A. Chattopadhyay, Identification of cholesterol recognition amino acid consensus (CRAC) motif in G-protein coupled receptors, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 404 (2011) 569–573.
- [71] J. Shan, G. Khelashvili, S. Mondal, E.L. Mehler, H. Weinstein, Ligand-dependent conformations and dynamics of the serotonin 5-HT_{2A} receptor determine its activation and membrane-driven oligomerization properties, PLoS Comput. Biol. 8 (2012) e1002473.
- [72] J.N. Horn, T.-C. Kao, A. Grossfield, Coarse-grained molecular dynamics provides in-sight into the interactions of lipids and cholesterol with rhodopsin, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 796 (2014) 75–94.
- [73] Y.D. Paila, S. Ganguly, A. Chattopadhyay, Metabolic depletion of sphingolipids impairs ligand binding and signaling of human serotonin_{1A} receptors, Biochemistry 49 (2010) 2389–2397.
- [74] P. Singh, Y.D. Paila, A. Chattopadhyay, Role of glycosphingolipids in the function of human serotonin_{1A} receptors, J. Neurochem. 123 (2012) 716–724.
 [75] S. Mondal, J.M. Johnston, H. Wang, G. Khelashvili, M. Filizola, H. Weinstein, Membrane
- [75] S. Mordai, J.W. Johnson, H. Wang, G. Aledarivin, W. Huzba, H. Weinbell, Weinberger driven spatial organization of GPCRs, Sci. Rep. 3 (2013) 2909.
 [76] X. Prasanna, A. Chattopadhyay, D. Sengupta, Role of lipid-mediated effects in β₂-adrenergic receptor dimerization, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 842 (2015) 247–261.